COA No.45173-5-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON  
DIVISION TWO

---

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

BARON DELL ASHLEY,

Appellant.

---

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT  
OF CLARK COUNTY

The Honorable David Gregerson

---

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

---

OLIVER R. DAVIS  
Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT  
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701  
Seattle, Washington 98101  
(206) 587-2711

##

## **A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

1. In Baron Ashley's trial on a charge of unlawful imprisonment, the trial court erred in admitting ER 404(b) evidence.

2. The trial court erred in calculating Mr. Ashley's offender score.

3. The trial court erred in ordering Mr. Ashley to pay Legal Financial Obligations (LFO's).

## **B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

1. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in admitting ER 404(b) evidence where the evidence was dubious as to whether the prior acts occurred, where the alleged acts were not relevant to an essential element of the crime, and where the acts were very prejudicial?

2. Did the trial court err in calculating Mr. Ashley's offender score where it included a 1999 conviction for attempted assault in the second degree on the ground it is a "violent" offense, but the SRA provides that only inchoate offenses of Class A are violent offenses?

3. Did the trial court err in ordering Mr. Ashley to pay Legal Financial Obligations where it required him to establish inability to

pay, and/or failed to find Mr. Ashley had an ability to pay, and/or erroneously found that he did have the ability to pay?

### **C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

1. **Trial.** Baron Ashley was charged by an amended information with Unlawful Imprisonment pursuant to RCW 9A.40.040(1), along with an allegation that the crime was one of domestic violence pursuant to RCW 10.99.020. CP 50. Vancouver Police Department officers, who were investigating earlier offenses allegedly involving Mr. Ashley and his sister Marquetta Jackson, arrived at her residence, where Mr. Ashley was staying. Officers knocked repeatedly, but received no response at the door. CP 2-3. When they announced that they had obtained the key from the building manager, and were going to employ a police dog, one Makayla Gamble, Mr. Ashley's ex-girlfriend, met the officers downstairs. When questioned about why no one had come to the door, Gamble claimed that Mr. Ashley had intimidated her into staying quietly in the upstairs bathroom, so that police would think no one was home and would leave. Ms. Gamble was not arrested for obstructing and later, at trial, she denied that her story was an effort to avoid her from being arrested. CP 2-3; RP 1A at 143-45, 160-62.

At trial, one of the officers, Sergeant Andy Hamlin, denied that the police had threatened Ms. Gamble that she was at risk of being arrested for obstructing. RP 1A at 161-62.

Ms. Gamble claimed to the jury that she and Mr. Ashley were inside the two-story apartment when they heard police cars arrive. RP 1B at 191-92. Mr. Ashley told Makayla that her children were being too loud and told them to go upstairs, which they did. RP 1B at 193. Then, Ms. Gamble claimed, she felt intimidated and Mr. Ashley told her to stay in the bathroom, occasionally shutting the door when she tried to open it. RP 1B at 194-95. She testified that she stated twice that she wanted to leave the bathroom. RP 1B at 195.

Based on a pre-trial ER 404(b) hearing, Ms. Gamble was also permitted to testify that Mr. Ashley had abused her physically in the past, and because of this, she felt that the mere way he looked at her that day, meant she would be harmed if she did not stay in the bathroom. RP 1B at 194-99. She also admitted, however, that Mr. Ashley in fact had never threatened her to make her stay in the bathroom. RP 1B at 202.

Ms. Gamble also admitted that when the police were talking to her outside the apartment, she thought they were angry at her for

not opening the door, and she was worried that she would be arrested for obstructing their arrest effort. RP 1B at 209-11. Detective Hamlin was questioning her and asking, “Why are you trying to save him?” RP 1B at 217. It was then that she told the officers her account of being prevented from leaving the bathroom. RP 1B at 214-15.

Ms. Gamble also claimed at trial that she was “only” allowed to leave the upstairs bathroom when the police entered the apartment. RP 1B at 199-200. However, C. Ashley, the 7-year old daughter of Mr. Ashley and Ms. Gamble, stated that she and her mother were standing around downstairs when the police came in the door. RP 1A at 181-82.

**2. Verdict and sentencing.** The jury found Mr. Ashley guilty. CP 74-75. At sentencing, he was ordered to serve 33 months incarceration based on an offender score of 7. CP 91.

#### **D. ARGUMENT**

##### **1. THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN ADMITTING ER 404(B) EVIDENCE**

**a. Pre-trial ER 404(b) hearing.** Prior to trial, the State sought to introduce evidence of Mr. Ashley striking Ms. Gamble in the past, stating that it was offered in order to show that she was kept in the bathroom without her consent. RP 1A at 84-96. The



trial court ruled that there was a history of abuse of Ms. Gamble which included a black eye and a ruptured eardrum, which was proved by a preponderance. The Court indicated that the prior act evidence went to the question whether the restraint was without Ms. Gamble's consent, and held it was not prejudicially inadmissible. RP 1A at 97-98.

**b. Character and propensity evidence is inadmissible and was improperly admitted in this case.** Under ER 404(b) evidence may not be admitted "to prove the character of the accused in order to show that he acted in conformity therewith." When the decision whether to admit prior bad acts is a close one, "the scale must tip in favor of the defendant and the exclusion of the evidence." State v. Smith, 106 Wn.2d 772, 776, 725 P.2d 951 (1996); State v. Thang, 145 Wn. 2d 630, 642, 41 P.3d 1159, 1165 (2002) (citing Smith); State v. Nelson, 131 Wn. App. 108, 115, 125 P.3d 1008, 1012 (2006). If the evidence is admitted, a limiting instruction must be given to the jury. State v. Foxhoven, 161 Wn. 2d 168, 175, 163 P.3d 786, 790 (2007).

Washington courts use a four part test to determine if ER 404(b) evidence is admissible:

We have held that when the State seeks admission of evidence under ER 404(b), that the defendant has

committed bad acts that constitute crimes other than the acts charged, the trial court must (1) find by a preponderance of the evidence that the uncharged acts probably occurred before admitting the evidence; (2) identify the purpose for which the evidence will be admitted; (3) find the evidence materially relevant to that purpose; and (4) balance the probative value of the evidence against any unfair prejudicial effect the evidence may have upon the fact-finder. State v. Pirtle, 127 Wn.2d 628, 649, 904 P.2d 245 (1995).

State v. Kilgore, 147 Wn. 2d 288, 292, 53 P.3d 974, 976 (2002).

The evidence proffered by the State in this case did not satisfy this inquiry. Ms. Gamble had no police or medical documentation of the incidents and admitted that she had not called the police except for one of the incidents, which she did not pursue, rendering it untenable in Mr. Ashley's view to conclude that these incidents occurred. RP 1A at 71-72, 76-77; see RP 1A at 90-92.

Further, as Mr. Ashley argued ER 404(b) evidence can only be admitted if it goes to an element of the crime. RP 1A at 88. In addition, this sort of prior act evidence is appropriate in cases where the alleged victim recants, to show why she might do so out of fear, which was not the circumstance here. RP 1A at 89-91; State v. Magers, 164 Wn. 2d 174, 189 P.3d 126 (2008), cf. State v. Baker, 162 Wn. App. 468, 475, 259 P.3d 270, review denied, 173 Wn.2d 1004 (2011).

Finally, the alleged incidents had occurred during the parties' dating relationship, in the year 2000, but the most recent incident was in 2008. The incidents were too remote to be probative, in contrast to their prejudicial propensity effect on the jury and the risk that the defendant would be convicted for a series of claimed physical abuses in the past. RP 1A at 71-83; see State v. Bowen, 48 Wn. App. 187, 195-96, 738 P.2d 316 (1987). As Mr. Ashley argued below, he contends on appeal that all four criteria for admitting ER 404(b) evidence were not satisfied. RP 1A at 90-91

**2. THE SENTENCING COURT MISCALCULATED MR. ASHLEY'S OFFENDER SCORE.**

**a. Scoring.** The trial court calculated Mr. Ashley's offender score as "7" based on arguments by the State which included advocacy for inclusion of a 1999 juvenile attempted assault in the second degree. CP 93, 101-02. The score of 7 resulted in a standard range of 33 to 43 months, based on which the trial court ordered Mr. Ashley to serve 33 months. RP 1B at 314; CP 91.

**b. The defendant may challenge his offender score calculation on appeal.** A defendant cannot waive a challenge to an offender score calculation that contravenes the offender scoring rules of the SRA as a matter of law. In re Pers. Restraint of Goodwin, 146 Wn.2d 861, 874, 50 P.3d 618 (2002).

**c. The inclusion of Mr. Ashley's 1999 juvenile disposition for Attempted Assault in the Second Degree was erroneous.** Mr. Ashley argues that the trial court erred in including the 1999 juvenile disposition for Attempted Assault in the Second Degree. RP 1B at 304; CP 93, 101-02.

RCW 9.94A.525 subsection (21), which is applicable to general nonviolent<sup>1</sup> offenses where domestic violence has been plead and proved, provides for certain scoring multipliers for prior domestic violence crimes (not applicable to the 1999 juvenile attempted assault), but otherwise requires that prior offenses be scored pursuant to subsections (7) through (20) of the section, as applicable.

All the specified subsections involve current offenses inapplicable by title to the present case except subsection (7), which applies to present convictions for nonviolent offenses, including unlawful imprisonment (RCW 9.94A.030(33) and (54), supra). The subsection provides that prior juvenile convictions for nonviolent felonies count as ½ point.

---

<sup>1</sup> Unlawful imprisonment is a nonviolent offense. Under RCW 9.94A.030(33), a nonviolent offense is an offense which is not a violent offense. Under RCW 9.94A.030(54), "violent offense" means any completed or attempted class A felony, or a solicitation or conspiracy to commit a class A felony, in addition to certain enumerated other offenses which list does not include unlawful imprisonment. RCW 9.94A.030(54). Unlawful imprisonment is a class C felony. RCW 9A.40.040(2); RCW 9A.20.021(1)(c).

(7) If the present conviction is for a nonviolent offense and not covered by subsection (11), (12), or (13) of this section, count one point for each adult prior felony conviction and one point for each juvenile prior violent felony conviction and 1/2 point for each juvenile prior nonviolent felony conviction.

RCW 9.94A.525 subsection (7). Mr. Ashley's 1999 juvenile conviction for attempted second degree assault is a nonviolent offense because it is not a violent offense. RCW 9.94A.030(33) and (54), supra. Subsection (54) includes, within the list of violent offenses, certain crimes that are "attempted" or otherwise inchoate, but only if they are class A felonies, which second degree assault is not. RCW 9.94A.030(54)(a)(i) and (ii); see RCW 9A.36.021(2) (second degree assault is a class B felony); RCW 9A.28.020(3)(c) ("An attempt to commit a crime is a: . . . (c) Class C felony when the crime attempted is a class B felony.").

Therefore, the 1999 crime counts for only ½ point. Because offender scores totaling a number of points and ½ are rounded down, RCW 9.94A.525 (preamble), Mr. Ashley's offender score was one point too high under this error.

Notably, it is true that two statutes in RCW 9.94A.525, which establish a broad general rule, indicate that prior convictions for

attempted and other inchoate crimes should be treated as the completed crime for purposes of offender scoring:

(4) Score prior convictions for felony anticipatory offenses (attempts, criminal solicitations, and criminal conspiracies) the same as if they were convictions for completed offenses.

\* \* \*

(6) If the present conviction is one of the anticipatory offenses of criminal attempt, solicitation, or conspiracy, count each prior conviction as if the present conviction were for a completed offense. When these convictions are used as criminal history, score them the same as a completed crime.

RCW 9.94A.525(4) and (6). However, Mr. Ashley's 1999 juvenile conviction for attempted second degree assault is specifically not a violent offense, as a result of .525 subsection (7) that relies on the SRA's careful categorization of attempted crimes as being harmful enough to be deemed "violent" when the crime is any Class A felony, but limits all other classes to their completed form. RCW 9.94A.030(33) and (54), supra. Subsection (7) of the scoring statute governs, because of its specificity and because, accordingly, it is subsequent in the statute to subsections (4) and (6). State v. Moeurn, 170 Wn.2d 169, 175, 240 P.3d 1158 (2010) (Legislature intended that rules for calculating offender scores in .525 are "to be applied in the order in which they appear").

Furthermore, applying subsections (4) or (6) to the 1999 attempt would ignore subsection (7) and its reliance on subsection (54)'s categorization scheme in its entirety, and would therefore be untenable. In construing subsection (7), the Court's primary objective is to carry out the intent of the Legislature. City of Seattle v. Shepherd, 93 Wn.2d 861, 866, 613 P.2d 1158 (1980). The Washington Courts specifically do not read the SRA in a manner that would frustrate the Legislature's intent. In re Pierce, 173 Wn.2d 372, 387, 268 P.3d 907 (2011).

Statutes are also read to give effect to all language used, rendering no portion meaningless or superfluous. City of Seattle v. State, 136 Wn.2d 693, 698, 965 P.2d 619 (1998). And importantly, "[a] statute cannot be construed so that an entire provision is meaningless, unless necessary to save the statute or act from constitutional infirmity, or to reconcile conflicting statutes." (Emphasis added.) Childers v. Childers, 89 Wn.2d 592, 596-97, 575 P.2d 201 (1978).

The definition at .030(54) expressly limits the category of offenses that are violent offenses, when they are only attempted, to class A felonies. RCW 9.94A.030(54)(a)(i) and (ii). Subsection (7) of .525 expressly provides for weighted scoring of violent and

nonviolent offenses, referencing that definition. State v. Watson, 146 Wn.2d 947, 954, 51 P.3d 66 (2002) (legislative definitions are controlling). Thus, including Mr. Ashley's 1999 offense on the basis of earlier subsections (4) and (6) would therefore not only contravene the Supreme Court's reading of .525, doing so would require this Court to render the entire definitional provision of subsection (54) meaningless. This would be contrary to the Legislature's weighted scoring of violent and nonviolent offenses, and its considered categorization of certain crimes, and only certain *attempted* crimes, as "violent."

Importantly, where there is a seeming conflict in statutes, they must be reconciled and effect given to each if this can be achieved with no distortion of the language used. State v. Edwards, 53 Wn. App. 907, 771 P.2d 755, review denied, 113 Wn.2d 1002, 777 P.2d 1050 (1989); Tommy P. v. Board of Cy. Comm'rs, 97 Wn.2d 385, 391, 645 P.2d 697 (1982). Under similar reasoning as above, application of RCW 9.94A.525(4) and (6) to Mr. Ashley's offender scoring would completely defeat the intent of the Legislature in enacting RCW 9.94A.030(54), because the plain language of (54) indicates specific inclusion of attempts when the felony is class A, and thus specific exclusion of attempts to commit



felonies of other classes. In sharp contrast, applying the plain language of subsection .030(54) in no way renders meaningless the broad rule of .525(4) and (6) that treats current and prior attempt convictions as completed crimes for general scoring purposes.

Subsection 54 applies and Mr. Ashley's offender score was 1 point too high. He must be resentenced.

**3. THE SENTENCING COURT ERRED IN ORDERING MR. ASHLEY TO PAY LEGAL FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS.**

**a. Legal Financial Obligations imposed.** At sentencing, defense counsel argued that Mr. Ashley was unable to pay Legal Financial Obligations including the fees, fines and costs, not simply based on the order of indigency for purposes of appeal, but because he had four children, had been incarcerated since his arrest in May of 2013, and currently still owed Legal Financial Obligations from a 2006 case, a 2008 case, and owed other amounts that were the subject of support orders or obligations imposed in district court matters, in amounts totaling approximately 643 dollars. RP 1B at 319-20.

In response, the court stated that Mr. Ashley might later need a showing of inability to work and "future inability to pay" but

stated that “[t]hat showing has not been made at this point.” RP 1B at 321. The court therefore imposed costs and fees in the judgment and sentence of several thousand dollars. CP 91-100; RP 1B at 318-20.

**b. The trial court erred in requiring Mr. Ashley to prove inability to pay, and/or in ‘deferring’ any finding regarding ability to pay, and/or in finding he had an ability to pay based on no evidence, and reversal of the LFO assessment is required.** The allowance and recovery of costs is entirely statutory. State v. Nolan, 98 Wn. App. 75, 78-79, 988 P.2d 473 (1999).

Under RCW 10.01.160(1), the court can order a defendant convicted of a felony to repay court costs as part of the judgment and sentence. RCW 10.01.160(2) limits the costs to those “expenses specially incurred by the state in prosecuting the defendant or in administering the deferred prosecution program under 10.05 RCW or pretrial supervision.”

However, RCW 10.01.160(3) states that the sentencing court cannot order a defendant to pay court costs unless it finds that the defendant “is or will be able to pay them.” The sentencing court must make that determination, taking into consideration the

financial resources of the defendant and the burden imposed by ordering payment of court costs. RCW 10.01.160(3) provides:

The court shall not order a defendant to pay costs unless the defendant is or will be able to pay them. In determining the amount and method of payment of costs, the court shall take account of the financial resources of the defendant and the nature of the burden that payment of costs will impose.

RCW 10.01.160(3)

Here, the trial court erred in either requiring Mr. Ashley to prove *inability* to pay, and/or in ‘deferring’ any finding regarding ability to pay. The court itself must find an ability to pay. If a sentencing court orders LFOs, it must make an adequate record for the Court of Appeals to conclude it had a sufficient “factual basis” to do so, and some evidence is required. State v. Bertrand, 165 Wn. App. 393, 404 and n. 13, 267 P.3d 511 (2011); State v. Baldwin, 63 Wn. App. 303, 311-12, 818 P.2d 1116, 837 P.2d 646 (1991), review denied, 175 Wn.2d 1014 (2012). Further, if the trial court is deemed by this Court to have “made” a finding of ability to pay, that finding was clearly erroneous. Bertrand, 165 Wn. App. at 403-04. The only evidence on the issue was proffered by the defense, and demonstrated an inability to pay.

Finally, with regard to imposing recoupment for attorney’s fees, certain similar factors must be considered or imposition of