NO. 45173-5-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

v.

BARON DEL ASHLEY JR, Appellant

FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR CLARK COUNTY CLARK COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT CAUSE NO.13-1-00992-7

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Attorneys for Respondent:

ANTHONY F. GOLIK Prosecuting Attorney Clark County, Washington

RACHAEL R. PROBSTFELD, WSBA #37878 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Clark County Prosecuting Attorney 1013 Franklin Street PO Box 5000 Vancouver WA 98666-5000 Telephone (360) 397-2261

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Baron Ashley, Jr. (hereafter 'Ashley') was charged by information with Unlawful Imprisonment Domestic Violence pursuant to RCW 9A.40.040 and RCW 10.99.020 for an incident that occurred against Makayla Gamble on May 27, 2013. CP 5, 50.

At trial, the evidence showed that Ms. Gamble had previously been in a relationship with Ashley for five years and had two children with him. 1B RP at 185-86. Ms. Gamble was visiting the home of Ashley's sister over the Memorial Day weekend. 1B RP at 187-88. During her visit, police visited the residence and Ashley's sister was scared and asked everyone to be quiet. 1B RP at 189. Ms. Gamble believed the police were at the residence for Ashley's sister. 1B RP at 189. Ms. Gamble stayed the night at Ashley's sister's residence with Ashley and their children. 1B RP at 191. The police visited the residence a second time that weekend when

Ms. Gamble, Ashley, and their children were at the residence. 1B RP at 192. Ashley told Ms. Gamble and their children to go upstairs because they were being too loud. 1B RP at 192. Ms. Gamble had her baby with her. Ashley felt her baby was too loud so he put her and her young child in the bathroom and closed the door. 1B RP at 193. While she was in the bathroom, Ms. Gamble attempted to open the bathroom door three or four times. 1B RP at 194. Every time she tried to open the door, Ashley would close the door on her while she remained in the bathroom. 1B RP at 194. While in the bathroom, Ms. Gamble told Ashley she wanted to leave the bathroom on two occasions. 1B RP at 195.

Ms. Gamble testified that she had been previously abused by
Ashley. 1B RP at 195. She testified that in 2000 Ashley choked her while
they were at her mother's house. 1B RP at 195. In 2001, while she was
pregnant, Ashley gave Ms. Gamble a "couple" of black eyes. 1B RP at
196. In 2004, Ashley slapped Ms. Gamble over and over until he popped
her eardrum and gave her a black eye. 1B RP at 196-97. Police were
involved in that incident, but Ms. Gamble recanted her statement to police
because she loved Ashley. 1B RP at 197. Ashley pushed Ms. Gamble
down the stairs once while she was pregnant, and another time while she
was pregnant, he spilled beer on her face, slapped her, and spit on her face.
1B RP at 197. This prior abuse made Ms. Gamble fear Ashley and when

she was in the bathroom she handled the situation differently than she would have had there been no history of prior abuse. 1B RP at 198.

Ms. Gamble testified that when he ordered her into the bathroom on that Memorial Day weekend she complied because she knows his history and his temper and feared what he would do. 1B RP at 199. Ms. Gamble was in the bathroom for approximately an hour. 1RP at 200.

When police finally made entry into the residence, Ashley told Ms. Gamble to go downstairs and tell police that he was not there. 1RP at 200. However, Ms. Gamble told police that Ashley was indeed in the residence. 1RP at 200.

Prior to trial, the trial court heard the State's motion to admit evidence of the prior abuse against Ms. Gamble by Ashley in order to show Ms. Gamble's state of mind and for the jury to assess her credibility.

1A RP at 84-97. The trial court allowed admission of this evidence. 1A RP at 96-97. The jury returned a verdict of Guilty on the Unlawful Imprisonment charge and returned a special verdict finding that Ashley and Ms. Gamble were family or household members. CP 74-75.

At sentencing, the trial court calculated Ashley's offender score as a 7, based in part on a finding that Ashley's prior conviction for Attempted Assault in the Second Degree counted as 1 point. CP 102; 1B RP at 327-28. The trial court imposed legal financial obligations as part of Ashley's

sentence, however did not make a finding that Ashley had the present or future ability to pay. CP 93; 1B RP at 321.

C. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

I. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS

DISCRETION IN ADMITITNG EVIDENCE PURSUANT
TO ER 404b

Ashley alleges the trial court erred in admitting evidence of his prior abuse against the victim. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting this evidence and should be affirmed.

A trial court's decision as to the admissibility of evidence is within its sound discretion and only reversible for abuse of that discretion. *State v. Powell*, 126 Wn.2d 244, 258, 893 P.2d 615 (1995); *State v. Smith*, 115 Wn.2d 434, 444, 798 P.2d 1146 (1990). A trial court abuses its discretion if its decision is based on untenable grounds or made for untenable reasons. *State v. Baker*, 162 Wn.App. 468, 473, 259 P.3d 270 (2011) (citing *State v. Fualaau*, 155 Wn.App. 347, 356, 228 P.3d 771, *rev. denied*, 169 Wn.2d 1023, 238 P.3d 503 (2010)).

Evidence Rule (ER) 404(b) provides for the admission of other crimes, wrongs or acts for the purpose of showing motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity or absence of mistake or accident. ER 404(b). This is not an exclusive list of permissible purposes

4

for admitting evidence pursuant to this rule. *State v. Grant*, 83 Wn.App. 98, 105, 920 P.2d 609 (1996). To admit evidence of a defendant's prior bad acts, the trial court must find four factors have been met: 1) sufficient evidence to show by a preponderance of the evidence that the prior acts occurred; 2) identify the purpose for which the evidence is sought to be introduced; 3) determine whether the evidence is relevant to prove an element of the crime charged; and 4) weigh the probative value of the evidence against its prejudicial effect. *Fualaau*, 155 Wn.App. at 356-57.

Ashley argues that it was untenable for the trial court to conclude that the prior acts of violence occurred. Br. of Appellant, p. 6. However, the trial court is in the best position to determine the credibility of the witness regarding these incidents, and to determine whether the prior incidents were proved by a preponderance of the evidence. *See State v. Garza*, 150 Wn.2d 360, 366, 77 P.3d 347 (2003) (finding the trial court was in the best position to make a factual determination because the issue was dependent on the facts and the totality of the circumstances). There is no requirement that corroboration of the prior acts of violence have occurred as Ashley seems to suggest the trial court should have required prior to finding the prior incidents had been proved by a preponderance of the evidence. The trial court clearly has the authority to determine whether something has been proved by a preponderance based solely on the

testimony of a witness. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding the victim credible enough to find the prior abuse occurred by a preponderance of the evidence.

Ashley also argues the trial court admitted the prior incidents for an improper purpose, that the evidence of the prior abuse was not relevant and that the prejudicial effect outweighed any probative value. Case law supports the admission of prior acts of domestic violence in a current domestic violence prosecution for a number of reasons. If prior acts of domestic violence directly relate to a specific element of the current offense, for example harassment, to show the reasonableness of the victim's fear, the prior incidents are likely admissible. See State v. Barragan, 102 Wn.App. 754, 760, 9 P.3d 942 (2000). Prior acts of domestic violence may also be admissible in order to give the jury an opportunity to evaluate the victim's credibility "with full knowledge of the dynamics of a relationship marked by domestic violence and the effect that such a relationship has on the victim." Grant, 83 Wn.App. at 108. In State v. Baker, 162 Wn.App. 468, 259 P.3d 270, rev. denied, 173 Wn.2d 1004, 268 P.3d 942 (2011), the Court found prior acts of domestic violence were admissible even though the victim did not recant. Baker, 162 Wn.App at 475. The Court reasoned that the jury was "entitled to evaluate [the victim's] credibility with full knowledge of the dynamics of

a relationship marked by domestic violence and the effect such a relationship has on the victim." *Id.* And finally, in *State v. Johnson*, 172 Wn.App. 112, 297 P.3d 710 (2012), *review granted in part on other grounds*, 178 Wn.2d 1001, 308 P.3d 642 (2013), the Court found the defendant's prior acts of domestic violence against the victim were admissible to show the victim's state of mind. *Johnson*, 172 Wn.App. at 121. In *Johnson*, the victim's state of mind was relevant because putting the victim in reasonable fear of bodily harm was an element of the crime charged-assault.

In State v. Baker, 162 Wn.App. 468, 259 P.3d 270 (2011), this Court found evidence of prior incidents of domestic violence were admissible even though the victim was not recanting her allegations at the time of trial. Baker, 162 Wn.App. at 475. The defendant in Baker was charged with two counts of Assault in the Second Degree Domestic Violence. Id. at 472. At trial, the trial court admitted evidence of prior assaults on the victim to show motive, absence of mistake or accident, and to assist the jury in assessing the victim's credibility. Id. On appeal, the Court affirmed the admission of this evidence finding, in part, the evidence was admissible to allow the jury to assess the victim's credibility. Id. at 475. The Court made this finding despite the fact that the victim did not recant; this evidence was admissible to explain why the

victim did not immediately contact the police, given the dynamics of the situation. *Id.* In making its decision, the Court reflected upon the *Grant* Court's comments:

As reflected in the present case, victims of domestic violence often attempt to placate their abusers in an effort to avoid repeated violence, and often minimize the degree of violence when discussing it with others....

Id. (quoting *Grant*, 83 Wn.App. at 107-08).

It follows that a victim of repeated domestic violence may not question someone who tells them to stay in a room, to not answer the door. The prior abuse would also explain why a victim would feel intimidated when the defendant says no when she asks to leave a room. Without the context of the prior abuse, the jury would likely find the victim's tale less credible because it would not make sense to them that someone would not simply force their way out of an enclosed room as the victim in this case found herself.

Ashley was charged with Unlawful Imprisonment, a domestic violence offense pursuant to RCW 9A.40.040. CP 5. To prove Unlawful Imprisonment, the State had to show that Ashley knowingly restrained the victim. "Restrain" is defined as "restrict[ing] a person's movements without consent and without legal authority in a manner which interferes substantially with his liberty. Restraint is 'without consent' if it is

accomplished by (a) physical force, intimidation, or deception..." RCW 9A.40.010(6). The State therefore had to show that Ashley restricted the victim's movements without her consent. One way to show that is by intimidation. See RCW 9A.40.010(6). A victim who has a history of violence with a perpetrator is much more easily intimidated than maybe someone who has no knowledge of the perpetrator's propensity for violence. The prior violence therefore is directly relevant to an element of the crime, the State's burden to show unlawful restraint. Further, given the facts of this case, the victim's credibility would be questioned by any jury as her actions were not necessarily typical. The jury has the right to evaluate the victim's credibility "with full knowledge of the dynamics of a relationship marked by domestic violence and the effect that such a relationship has on the victim." Grant, 83 Wn.App. at 108. By admitting the evidence of the prior abuse, the trial court ensured the jury had the information it needed to properly assess the victim's credibility, and also to have all relevant evidence available to assess whether the State proved all elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt.

Ashley also argues the prior abuse is too remote in time to be probative. However, this defies common sense. Once a victim has been abused in a relationship, that entire relationship is marked by the prior abuse. It can affect all future decisions and actions by that victim in the

relationship. Clearly this victim's prior abuse at the hands of Ashley affected her actions on the day of the Unlawful Imprisonment. 1A RP at 74-75. This shows the prior abuse was relevant to an adequate assessment of her credibility and also relevant to prove the element of non-consent of Unlawful Imprisonment. Ashley's claim fails.

The trial court, in making its decision, indicated it had read through relevant case law, found the incidents had occurred by a preponderance of the evidence, and found the probative value out-weighed any prejudicial effect. 1A RP at 96-98. The Court also gave a limiting instruction on the evidence and invited Ashley and his attorney to propose any limiting instruction they wanted. CP 55; 1A RP at 98. There was clearly support in the law for the admission of this evidence in this case. See Baker, supra, Grant, supra, Johnson, supra, and State v. Magers, 164 Wn.2d 174, 189 P.3d 126 (2008). The trial court made its decision for tenable reasons and based its decision on the proper application of ER 404(b) and relevant case law. The trial court did not abuse its discretion and should be affirmed.

II. THE OFFENDER SCORE WAS PROPERLY CALCULATED

Ashley argues the trial court miscalculated his offender score because it counted a prior conviction for Attempted Assault in the Second

Degree as a violent offense. However, Attempted Assault in the Second Degree is not a violent offense, but still counts as 1 point in Ashley's offender score because the SRA directs trial courts to treat anticipatory offenses the same as completed offenses for purposes of calculating an offender score. Given that provision, the trial court properly calculated Ashley's offender score by assigning 1 point to his prior Attempted Assault in the Second Degree conviction. Ashley's argument fails.

RCW 9.94A.525 governs offender score calculations. This statute explicitly provides that anticipatory offenses are to be treated the same as completed offenses. The rationale of *State v. Becker*, 59 Wn.App. 848, 801 P.2d 1015 (1990) is still valid because the statute's language was not changed when it was recodified and the court in *Becker* addressed nearly this exact issue. In *Becker*, the Court confirmed that second degree attempted robbery is not itself a "violent offense," however in determining the defendant's offender score, the prior attempted robbery is treated the same as the completed offense. *Id.* at 852-55. The completed offense, robbery in the second degree, is a violence crime and therefore receives two points. *Id.* at 852.

The Court in *Becker* reasoned:

The apparent conflict in the sections is based on the assumption that the attempted robbery can only receive two points if it is a 'violent offense.' Contrary to Becker's

contention, the offense does not receive two points because it is a violent offense, but rather, it receives two points because the completed crime of robbery in the second degree would receive two points and the attempted robbery is to be treated as a completed crime. According to the plain language of RCW 9.94A.360(5) the attempt must be treated the same as the completed crime. Such a reading of the two sections gives effect to each section and does not distort the language of the sections.

Id. at 852.

This Court found the more general definition section of the SRA applies to several sections of the SRA, not simply those sections that deal with the calculation of an offender score. RCW 9.94A.525 tells the court how to calculate anticipatory offenses for purposes of calculating an offender score. *Id.* at 853-54. The trial court is instructed to score prior convictions for felony anticipatory offenses the same as if they were convictions for completed offenses. RCW 9.94A.525(4). RCW 9.94A.525(7) requires the court to a prior juvenile violent offense as one point for a present nonviolent offense conviction. Assault in the second degree is a violent offense. RCW 9.94A.030(54)(viii). The Court in *State v. Knight*, 134 Wn.App. 103, 138 P.3d 1114 (2006) followed the reasoning of *Becker* and found that a defendant's conviction for conspiracy to commit robbery in the second degree had to be treated the same as the

completed crime for purposes of calculating the offender score. *Knight*, 134 Wn.App. at 109. The holding in *Becker* applies to Ashley's case as well.

As in *Becker*, *supra*, the trial court did not assign 1 point to Ashley's prior Attempted Assault in the Second Degree conviction because it is a violent offense, but rather the trial court assigned 1 point to this crime because a completed Assault in the Second Degree would have received 1 point and the statute requires the attempted be treated as if it were a completed offense. RCW 9.94A.525(4).

Further, even under a statutory construction analysis, this same result would be had. A more recent specific statute prevails when in conflict with a more general predecessor. *Becker*, 59 Wn.App. at 852 (citing *Citizens for Clean Air v. Spokane*, 114 Wn.2d 20, 36, 785 P.2d 447 (1990)). Under this rule, the more specific and recent section under RCW 9.94A.525(4) prevails over the general and older section under RCW 9.94A.030. Accepting Ashley's argument regarding statutory interpretation would render RCW 9.94A.525 meaningless. This Court should not construe statutes in a way that would render any portion meaningless or superfluous. *Becker*, 59 Wn.App. at 854. By having RCW 9.94A.525(4) supersede the general definition of violent offender under RCW 9.94A.030, meaning is given to the SRA as a whole.

Ashley's prior conviction for Attempted Assault in the Second

Degree was properly assigned 1 point in the calculation of Ashley's

offender score. The trial court did not err in calculating this offender score

and Ashley's sentence should be affirmed.

III. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY IMPOSED LEGAL FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS

Ashley alleges the trial court erred in imposing legal financial obligations and in finding that he had a present or future ability to pay. The trial court did not err in finding Ashley had a future ability to pay legal financial obligations, and this issue is not yet ripe for review as the State has not attempted to collect on his fines. The trial court should be affirmed.

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